RECEIVED

Apr 04 2023

SC Court of Appeals

SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of
Appeals

Case No. 2022-001437

Johnathan Daniels, Appellant.

v.

The City Of Cayce, Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Johnathan M. Daniels, Appellant, Pro Se
P.O. Box 30651
Columbia, South Carolina 29230
Phone: (803) 770-8863
Email: chesssetbyj@yahoo.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Prosecution and conviction of Appellant for the two nonmoving charges was prohibited by South Carolina § 1-32 and the State and federal constitutions.
2. The municipal judge acted without jurisdiction in accepting Appellant's guilty plea to the nonmoving charge of South Carolina § 56-1-20, Driving Without A License.
3. The municipal judge erred by failing to dismiss the two nonmoving charges against Appellant.
4. Appellant's guilty pleas were not valid because they were involuntarily, unknowingly, misunderstandingly, and mistakenly made.
5. Appellant's guilty pleas were not valid because they had no factual basis.
6. The municipal court erred or abused discretion by denying Appellant's Motion To Compel discovery responses from the State, causing prejudice against the Appellant.
7. The State's prosecution of Appellant for the nonmoving charges in this case was barred due to an estoppel in the nature of a collateral estoppel, or a judicial estoppel should have been recognized by the municipal court, requiring dismissal of the nonmoving charges.

but faith which worketh by love. 7 Ye did run well; who did hinder you that ye should not obey the truth?"

² King James Bible, at Romans 3:19, which reads, "19 Now we know that what things soever the law saith, it saith to them who are under the law: that every mouth may be stopped, and all the world may become guilty before God."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 9th, 2019, Johnathan Martia Daniels, (hereafter, "Appellant") was in his truck driving east on 12th St. Ext. in Cayce, South Carolina. At 7:37 am, Appellant was observed by officer Robert Garmin of the City of Cayce Department of Public Safety, allegedly, traveling at a speed of 61 mph in a 45 mph zone, near the intersection of 12th St. Ext. and Steamboat Run. Officer Garmin initiated a traffic stop on Appellant and found that Appellant had no driver's license and no vehicle registration. Appellant had a private tag and current insurance coverage on his truck. Officer Garmin confiscated Appellant's private tag and issued citations to Appellant for the nonmoving charges of 56-1-20, No S.C. DL 1st, and 56-3-110, Failure to Register Vehicle (hereafter "nonmoving charges"). Appellant was also charged for violation of 56-5-1520(G)(3), Speeding (More than 15 over, but less than 25 over).

Appellant was arraigned on January 16th, 2020 at City of Cayce Municipal Court, where Appellant entered a plea of "Not Guilty" for all three charges and told Officer Garmin about his religious objections. Appellant served discovery requests to officer Garmin on February 2nd, 2020, to which Officer Garmin delivered a partial production of what was requested. Appellant motioned the court to compel a complete response. The municipal court denied Appellant's Motion to Compel on September 2nd, 2020 via letter. Appellant timely objected to the denial and filed a Motion to Reconsider on September 11th, 2020. The Motion to Reconsider was also denied by the municipal court on October 8th, 2020, to which Appellant timely objected. On July 3rd, 2021, Appellant served and filed a Motion to Dismiss For Lack Of Jurisdiction.

While driving to the municipal court on July 22nd, 2021, for a mandatory jury strike called in the case, Appellant was seized, detained, and ticketed by City of Cayce police. Appellant was, again, ticketed for No S.C. DL and Failure to Register Vehicle.

On July 22nd, 2021, before jury selection began, the municipal judge ruled against Appellant's Motion To Dismiss, to which Appellant timely objected. A jury was struck and a trial of the matter was scheduled for October 28th, 2021. Appellant filed a Motion For A Directed Verdict, claiming a South Carolina § 1-32 defense, on October 5th, 2021.

On October 28th, 2021, Appellant met with City of Cayce (hereafter, "Respondent") prosecutor, Daniel E. Peagler (hereafter, "prosecutor") and arresting officer Garmin, with whom a plea deal was discussed, but no agreement made. The case was called for trial shortly thereafter, where without request from either party, Appellant and the prosecutor were called outside of the courtroom by the municipal judge for plea negotiations. While outside of the courtroom, the municipal clerk of court made an incomplete record of the hearing, and no written plea document was presented to Appellant. The municipal court accepted Appellant's guilty pleas to the charges of speeding and driving without a license, and Appellant was convicted and fined \$180.63 for speeding and \$155.00 for driving without a license.

On November 4th, 2021, Appellant issued written objections and filed an appeal with the municipal court. (R. pp. 14-26). The appeal was filed at the Lexington County Court of Common Pleas on November 4th, 2021. Respondent was served on November 26th, 2021 and a Motion to Cure Deficiency was served on Respondent and filed at the circuit court on December 6th, 2021. Appellant's grounds for appeal were: (1) the trial court's error in misstating the penalties, among other inaccuracies; (2) the trial court's failing to inform Appellant of his rights before the plea acceptance; (3) the trial court's failing to review evidence, examine facts, or question Appellant regarding admission to any of the facts alleged; (4) the municipal judge's insistence on, and participation in plea negotiations; (5) the trial court's error or abuse of discretion in refusing to make a ruling on Appellant's Motion for a Directed Verdict; (6) the municipal judge holding a

non public, “closed court” session; (7) to the prosecution of Appellant on charges for driving without a license and no vehicle registration, which were prohibited by an estoppel; (8) denial of Appellant’s Motion To Compel discovery responses from the State; (9) and Respondent’s law enforcement and court officers labeling Appellant as a “sovereign citizen,” and the consequences thereof denying Appellant due process.

The appeal was heard before Lexington County Circuit Court Judge, Robert E. Hood, on September 22nd, 2022. Judge Hood denied Appellant’s appeal and motion in an order dated September 27th, 2022. Appellant filed a Notice Of Appeal at the circuit court on October 4th, 2022 and filed the appeal to the South Carolina Supreme Court on October 13th, 2022. Appellant challenged Judge Hood's denial of his Motion To Amend Deficiency related to service of the municipal appeal, maintained his initial objections and challenged the constitutionality of the two nonmoving charges, as well as the jurisdiction of the municipal court. (R. pp. 141-148). The case was referred to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on October 14th, 2022.

ARGUMENT

A. The Two Nonmoving Charges Prosecuted By Respondent Are Statutorily And/Or Constitutionally Prohibited As Enforced Against Appellant

Standard of Review

When issues presented in an appeal are questions of law, they should reviewed de novo. Decisions on “questions of law “ are reviewable de novo,” *Pierce v. Underwood*, 487 U.S. 552, 558 (1988). Conclusions of law are subject to de novo review by the appellate court. *Husain v. Olympic Airways*, 316 F.3d 835 (9th Cir. 2002). Where a claim of substantial burden on the exercise of religion lies, South Carolina § 1-32 requires “a test of compelling state interest” as set forth in *Wisconsin v. Yoder*, 406 U.S. 205 (1972), and *Sherbert v. Verner*, 374 U.S. 398

(1963); this is essentially a “strict scrutiny” mandate. Further, failing either the neutrality or general applicability test is sufficient to trigger strict scrutiny. See *Church of the Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. Hialeah*, 508 U.S. 546 (1993). Under strict scrutiny, the state must demonstrate that the law is "narrowly tailored" to achieve a compelling state interest, and that it uses the "least restrictive means" to achieve that purpose; if the state interest is not compelling (i.e. of the highest order), or the means employed are not the least restrictive means to achieve that purpose, the statute will be considered unconstitutional.

Discussion

Appellant maintains that this argument before this court is NOT barred, because his guilty pleas were invalid, involuntary, unknowing, and made due to misunderstanding and/or mistake. However, in the unlikely case that this Court finds that Appellant’s Pleas were valid, this constitutional challenge to the State’s right to prosecute Appellant for the two nonmoving charges in this case remains unbarred. The Court please recognize that Appellant is not arguing he has a constitutional right to noncompliance with the speeding laws of the State. Appellant does not use a driver’s license or vehicle registration, and “the face of the record” reflects the same. (R. p. 77, ¶ 1). Even after clarification was provided, Respondent chose to prosecute Appellant because of Appellant’s exercise of his constitutionally protected rights to religious freedom and liberty. This case is the epitome of retaliatory prosecution, which the State does not have the authority to conduct. Consequently, Appellant’s pleas, valid or invalid, cannot waive Appellant’s right to appeal the constitutionality of the charges under which he was convicted, no matter the validity of the pleas.

The U.S. Supreme Court acknowledges a distinction and allows the hearing of such constitutional challenges on direct appeal, concluding that while in *Tollett*, the claims were “of

constitutional dimension,” the Court explained that “the nature of the underlying constitutional infirmity is markedly different” from a claim of vindictive prosecution, which implicates “the very power of the State” to prosecute the defendant. *Blackledge v. Perry*, 417 U. S. 30 (1974), (quoting *Tollett v. Henderson*, 411 U. S. 258, 266–267 (1973)). Accordingly, the Court wrote that “the right” Perry “asserts and that we today accept is the right not to be haled into court at all upon the felony charge” since “[t]he very initiation of the proceedings” against Perry “operated to deprive him due process of law.” *Id.*, at 30–31. Further, the Court held that “a plea of guilty to a charge does not waive a claim that—judged on its face—the charge is one which the State may not constitutionally prosecute.” *Menna v. New York*, 423 U. S. 63, and n. 2 (1975) (per curiam). Menna’s claim amounted to a claim that “the State may not convict” him “no matter how validly his factual guilt is established.” *Ibid.* Menna’s “guilty plea, therefore, [did] not bar the claim.” *Ibid.*

Because of Appellant’s religious beliefs and practices, Respondent’s prosecutor and arresting officer have labeled Appellant as a sovereign citizen, called him such on many occasions, and prosecuted Appellant for his religious views. “Sovereign citizens” are infamous persons and have been an annoyance to the State’s law enforcement. Appellant is not a sovereign citizen, but simply a devoutly religious man trying to cooperate with the State within the framework of laws that the State’s Legislature has created specifically for that purpose. (R. p. 108 ¶¶ “c.”, “c. (a.)”, and “c. (b.)”; R. p. 91, at “C” ¶¶ 1-3). Any similarity between Appellant’s religiously motivated conduct and that of sovereign citizens is purely an unfortunate coincidence.

Regardless of Respondent’s view, government may neither compel affirmation of a repugnant belief, *Torcaso v. Watkins*, 367 U. S. 488; nor penalize or discriminate against

individuals or groups because they hold religious views abhorrent to the authorities, *Fowler v. Rhode Island*, 345 U. S. 67; courts cannot examine the truth or falsity of religious beliefs, *United States v. Ballard*, 322 U.S. 78 (1944).

(“[I]t is not within the judicial function and judicial competence to inquire whether” someone who has religious qualms with a law has “correctly perceived the commands of [his] faith.”). *Thomas v. Review Bd. of Ind. Emp’t Sec. Div.*, 450 U.S. 707, 716 (1981). The adherent alone defines the tenets of his or her religious observance. Courts may determine only the sincerity of religious beliefs, not their validity. Even religious beliefs that some reasonable observers would view as implausible are entitled to protection if sincerely held. *Burwell v. Hobby Lobby Stores, Inc.*, 573 U.S. 724 (2014). The Court has repeatedly emphasized, the reasonableness or truth of religious belief is beyond the competence and purview of the courts. *Id.* at 724.

Where a religious objector believes that performing an act will violate his or her religious beliefs, and that belief is sincerely held, courts must accept the objector’s belief. *Hobby Lobby*, 573 U.S. at 686; see also *New Doe Child #1 v. Congress of the U.S.*, 891 F.3d 578, 586-587 (6th Cir. 2018). Substantial burden on an objector’s religious exercise is evaluated on the basis of the objector’s own sincerely held religious belief. *Hobby Lobby*, 573 U.S. at 682, 724. (“Repeatedly and in many different contexts, we have warned that courts must not presume to determine ... the plausibility of a religious claim.” (citations omitted)). A religious believer’s exercise of religion is substantially burdened if the law presents the believer with the choice of either violating his or her religious beliefs or suffering a substantial penalty. *Hobby Lobby*, 573 U.S. at 726; see also *Holt v. Hobbs*, 574 U.S. 352, 361 (2015).

“The face of the record” in this case indicates that Appellant’s beliefs are sincerely held, and that Appellant has possessed the beliefs for years. (R. pp. 137-138, ¶¶ “(1)” & “(5)”; R. pp. 119-121, ¶¶ "(1)", "(5)", "(8)", & “(9)"). Appellant has consistently challenged similar laws since 2017, and repeatedly put himself at risk of penalty for his noncompliance with those laws. Reviewing the charges brought in this case, Appellant was clearly faced with the choice of violating his religious beliefs or suffering a substantial penalty of jail time and fines.

The State’s Legislature clearly and unambiguously does not intend for Appellant’s religiously motivated conduct to be considered a crime, violation, or offense. South Carolina § 1-32-30 allows for the citing of a substantial burden on the free exercise of religion as defense to violating *any* South Carolina law, regulation, ordinance, rule, or custom. At the start of the present case under appeal, Appellant notified the municipal judge, prosecutor and arresting officer, that his sincerely held religious beliefs and practices (1) prohibit his participation in what he believes to be corporate franchising schemes in subjugation to the State, (2) prohibit him from representing and/or acting as a State-created corporate persona in bondage to the State, (3) that these religiously based prohibitions prevent his obtaining a State drivers license and vehicle registration, and (4) that the State had previously agreed to accommodate Appellant on the matter.

Appellant has repeatedly raised the defense allowed at South Carolina § 1-32-30(2) in response to purported violations of traffic laws relating to his driving without a license and having no vehicle registration. (R. p. 41, line 14 – p. 45, line 18). Other State officers, agencies, and subsidiaries, in privity with Respondent and also acting on behalf of the State, have previously been given notice that it is solely on this religious basis that Appellant has refused to

obtain a drivers license or register his truck, and while others have nolle prossed similar charges, Respondent refused to do so. (R. pp. 93 – 96).

As Appellant expressly explained to the municipal judge and prosecutor, he is a Sephardic man, descendent of actual and real Hebrew Negros exiled from Europe because of their religious beliefs, exiled to colonies of the Empire, later hunted down and enslaved under warrant, and subsequently moved back to the Americas from whence they came; Appellant is redeemed by God and freed with the revocation of the Alhambra Decree in 1968, making any enslavement of Negros illegal going back to before 1400 A.D. (R. pp. 120 – 121 at ¶¶ "(8)" and "(9)). It was not a mere coincidence that Negros in America were extended civil rights in the 1960's, but a result of the worldwide revocation of the order of the Empire that purported to authorize Hebrew Negro enslavement, especially in the New World. After having contracted peace in exile, Appellant's forefathers suffered betrayal at the hands of the King and Queen of Spain, the King of Portugal, and the Catholic Church, all acting in bad-faith. This resulted in the illegitimacy of the Expulsion Decree of 1492. Further, Appellant explained that the King James Bible, Holy Scriptures written specifically for Hebrews surviving in exile, prescribes that Appellant is obligated to avoid slavery, peonage, bondage, and involuntary servitude in all forms (see King James Bible, Galatians 5:1-7³ & Romans 3:19⁴). Consequently, avoidance of direct

³ King James Bible, at Galatians 1-7, which reads, "1 Stand fast therefore in the liberty wherewith Christ hath made us free, and be not entangled again with the yoke of bondage. 2 Behold, I Paul say unto you, that if ye be circumcised, Christ shall profit you nothing. 3 For I testify again to every man that is circumcised, that he is a debtor to do the whole law. 4 Christ is become of no effect unto you, whosoever of you are justified by the law; ye are fallen from grace. 5 For we through the Spirit wait for the hope of righteousness by faith. 6 For in Jesus Christ neither circumcision availeth any thing, nor uncircumcision; but faith which worketh by love. 7 Ye did run well; who did hinder you that ye should not obey the truth?"

⁴ King James Bible, at Romans 3:19, which reads, "19 Now we know that what things soever the law saith, it saith to them who are under the law: that every mouth may be stopped, and all the world may become guilty before God."

slavery, chattel slavery, bondage, peonage, and any form of overt or covert involuntary servitude are central and fundamental to Appellant's sincerely held religious beliefs and practices.

Importantly, if any misunderstanding exists as to the accuracy of Appellant's conclusions regarding the existence of a surreptitiously imposed State franchise or State-created corporate persona and resulting bondage, the State is culpable for that misunderstanding because the State has refused to disclose requested information to Appellant. (R. pp. 126 – 138; R. p. 125).

Through independent research and legally permissible discovery during litigation with the State between 2017 and 2022, Appellant has diligently attempted to prove or disprove whether the State's franchise and/or corporate schemes involve him. The State has refused to respond to the discovery requested, and the State's judges have ruled against Appellant on motions to compel responses from the State. The State has never rebutted or denied Appellant's affirmed attestations to the State's surreptitious enfranchisement and mischaracterization of Appellant as a State-created corporate persona. Appellant has thoroughly investigated the matter and reasonably concluded that through licensing, registration, and other means, the State has treated him and/or intends to treat him, as either a corporate franchisee of the State, or a State-created corporate person. The State has refused to provide any information, leaving Appellant to accept his findings as the truth of the matter. Appellant has thoroughly explained his religious beliefs and obligations to the municipal court and prosecutor, though they feign ignorance. (R. pp. 119-121, ¶¶ "1", "5", "8", and "9"; R. pp. 137-138, ¶¶ "1" and "5"; R. pp. 81-85, ¶¶ "2" and "3"; R. p. 57, lines 13-20)).

Regardless of the municipal judge's and prosecutor's disapproval of Appellant's religious beliefs and practices, the U.S. Supreme Court has already ruled that, "religious beliefs need not

be acceptable, logical, consistent, or comprehensible to others in order to merit First Amendment protection.” *Thomas v. Review Bd. of Ind. Employment Security Div.*, 450 U. S. 707, 714 (1981). The door of the Free Exercise Clause stands tightly closed against any governmental regulation of religious beliefs as such, *Cantwell v. Connecticut*, 310 U. S. 296, 310 U. S. 303. Further, the Court held that, “In our Establishment Clause cases we have often stated the principle that the First Amendment forbids an official purpose to disapprove of a particular religion or of religion in general. See, e. g., *Board of Ed. of Westside Community Schools (Dist. 66) v. Mergens*, 496 U. S. 226, 248 (1990) (plurality opinion); *School Dist. of Grand Rapids v. Ball*, 473 U. S. 373, 389 (1985); *Wallace v. Jaffree*, 472 U. S. 38, 56 (1985); *Epperson v. Arkansas*, 393 U. S. 97, 106-107 (1968); *School Dist. of Abington v. Schempp*, 374 U. S. 203, 225 (1963); *Everson v. Board of Ed. of Ewing*, 330 U. S. 1, 15-16 (1947).

As explained above, Appellant cannot comply with the State laws requiring him to use a State drivers license and registration without putting aside his sincerely held religious beliefs, practices, and obligations. It is obvious that the restrictions placed upon Appellant’ free use of the State’s public roads, along with his rights to liberty and free use of his property, result directly from the State’s laws and requirements that he (1) use the public roads only after being granted a drivers license and (2) that he register his truck. These requirements and the resulting penalties for noncompliance constitute a very substantial burden on Appellant’s free exercise of religion, and must be done under a compelling interest test, at a minimum (South Carolina § 1-32-30); federal guidelines also require “strict scrutiny”.

South Carolina § 1-32-30 allows the defense to persons whose exercise of religion is substantially burdened by the State and reads, in part (bold added):

“The purposes of this chapter are to:

(1) restore the compelling interest test as set forth in *Wisconsin v. Yoder*, 406 U.S. 205 (1972), and

Sherbert v. Verner, 374 U.S. 398 (1963), and to guarantee that a test of compelling state interest will be imposed on all state and local laws and ordinances in all cases in which the free exercise of religion is substantially burdened; and

(2) provide a claim or defense to persons whose exercise of religion is substantially burdened by the State.”

Please take notice that South Carolina §§ 1-32-30 and 1-32-40 require that a state burden on religious practice must pass the compelling interest test, which requires the burden to be the least restrictive means of furthering the compelling state interest. § 1-32-40 states (bold added): “The State **may not** substantially burden a person's exercise of religion, even if the burden results from a rule of general applicability, unless the State demonstrates that application of the burden to the person is:

(1) in furtherance of a compelling state interest; and

(2) the least restrictive means of furthering that compelling state interest.”

South Carolina § 1-32-60 applies South Carolina § 1-32's restrictions on government burdening of religion to **all** laws, in **all** cases in South Carolina, and allows for the granting of exemptions for persons whose exercise of religion is substantially burdened by the State. South Carolina § 1-32-60 clarifies that South Carolina § 1-32 applies to **each and every state and local law and ordinance**, including the implementation of those laws and ordinances. Further, South Carolina § 1-32-60 addresses the granting of exemptions to prevent unlawful burdening of a person's religion by the state.

The statutes that govern the vehicle registration and driver's license requirements, South Carolina § 56-1-20 and South Carolina § 56-3-110, are not generally applicable, as their complimentary statutes allow many exemptions for secular purposes. For example, under South Carolina § 56-1-30(3), the State is willing to suffer a wholly unlicensed driver to drive a motor vehicle, unimpeded, on its public roads for 90 days a year; and under 56-3-120 and 56-3-180, the

State exempts those vehicles for which it provides special permits, allowing the operation of unregistered vehicles on State roads for discretionary periods of time. Each of these requirements is regulated through laws and statutes that allow exemptions, which leave appreciable damage to any supposedly vital or compelling interest unprohibited. It is established in strict scrutiny jurisprudence that "a law cannot be regarded as protecting an interest 'of the highest order' ... when it leaves appreciable damage to that supposedly vital interest unprohibited." *Florida Star v. B. J. F.*, *supra*, at 541-542 (SCALIA, J., concurring in part and concurring in judgment) (citation omitted). See *Simon & Schuster, Inc. v. Members of N. Y. State Crime Victims Bd.*, 502 U. S. 105, 119-120 (1991). Therefore, Appellant challenges the notion that the State has a genuine compelling interest in regulating the use of the public roadways as regards its registration of motor vehicles and imposition of its drivers licensing requirement.

In light of the very substantial burdens placed on Appellant's constitutionally protected free exercise of religion, his right to liberty through travel, and his right to free use of his property, even if the State's regulatory interests were considered compelling, the State's methods of regulating Appellant's use of public roadways must take the form of the least restrictive means of regulation. As mentioned above, the laws of this State already suffer (1) unlicensed drivers to lawfully use the public roads, and (2) unregistered vehicles to be operated on public roads. Preference cannot be given to secular conduct and purposes, which is subsequently denied to Appellant's religiously motivated conduct and purpose. Doing so inevitably deters or discourages the exercise of First Amendment rights of religious freedom, and thereby threatens to "produce a result which the State could not command directly." *Speiser v. Randall*, at 357 U. S. 526 (1958). Likewise, to condition the availability of privileges upon Appellant's willingness to violate principles of his religion effectively penalizes his free exercise of constitutional rights.

Id. at 357 U. S. 518. Similar to the denial of exemptions for religious reasons in the present case, "to deny an exemption to claimants who engage in certain forms of speech is, in effect, to penalize them for such speech." *Id.* at 357 U. S. 518.

As to the nonmoving charges in this case, the State's requirements imposed upon Appellant are not the least restrictive means of furthering the State's interest. The relevant State motor vehicle laws do regulate through means that are less restrictive than those proposed to regulate Appellant's use of the public roadways. For example, the law requiring vehicle registration is not one of general applicability, as there are exemptions allowed for what appears to be a variety of discretionarily allowed purposes. South Carolina §§ 56-3-120 and 56-3-180 allow exemption from the requirement to register a motor vehicle, which may be done by way of special permit, and read as follows:

"SECTION 56-3-120. Exemptions from registration and licensing requirement. The following vehicles are exempt from registration and licensing under this chapter: (1) a vehicle driven, operated, or moved upon a highway pursuant to the provisions of this chapter relating to nonresidents or under temporary permits issued by the department as authorized;..."

"SECTION 56-3-180. Special permits to operate vehicles otherwise required to be registered and licensed; restrictions. **The department may issue in writing special permits to operate vehicles otherwise required to be registered and licensed under this chapter when the vehicles do not display the required current license plate or plates or registration cards.** A special permit issued pursuant to this section, shall specify the date on which the permit expires, and must be carried at all times on the vehicle authorized to be operated."

The law requiring driver licenses is also not one of general applicability, as many exemptions are allowed. South Carolina § 56-1-30 allows several classes of persons an exemption from licensing requirements, and reads in part at item (3):

"SECTION 56-1-30. Persons exempt from licensing requirements.

The following persons are exempt from licenses under this chapter:"

"(3) Any nonresident who is at least eighteen years of age and whose home state or country does not require the licensing of operators may operate a motor vehicle for a period of not

more than ninety days in any calendar year, if the motor vehicle is duly registered in the home state or country of the nonresident...”

South Carolina Title 56 does not provide any exemption related guidance directing any course of action, within any specified timeframe, for citizens whose free exercise of religion is burdened by the laws therein.

Many “generally applicable” laws provide categorical exceptions of one kind or another. Once a legislature has carved out an exemption for a secular group or person, the law is no longer “generally applicable,” and thus subject to standards of strict scrutiny. As the U.S. Supreme Court opined, “where such a law is not neutral or not of general application, it must undergo the most rigorous of scrutiny: It must be justified by a compelling governmental interest and must be narrowly tailored to advance that interest.” *Church of the Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. Hialeah*, 508 U.S. 520 (1993).

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