**RECEIVED**

**Apr 05 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2022-001437

---

Johnathan Daniels,

Appellant,

v.

City of Cayce,

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Danny C. Crowe (SC Bar No. 1480)  
City Attorney for the City of Cayce  
CROWE LAFAVE GARFIELD & BAGLEY, LLC  
2019 Park Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
Phone: 803-724-5728  
danny@crowelafave.com

Attorneys for Respondent

**

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT APPELLANT’S GUILTY PLEA WAS KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY.**

Appellant’s admissions to the municipal court, to the circuit court, and to this Court are revealing and dispositive on this issue. The partial transcript of the proceedings in the municipal court (R. pp. 62-67) includes the prosecutor’s description of the negotiated plea bargain with agreed fines, Appellant’s participation in that description by the prosecutor, an express plea of guilty, an express denial of threat or coercion, and an express statement of voluntariness of the plea. The exchange with the trial court on Appellant’s denial of threat or coercion is set out at page 6 of the partial transcript (R. p. 65, lines 8-11).

COURT: Has anyone threatened you or coerced you in any way to get you to plead guilty?

DEFENDANT: No, just circumstances are tough. You know? But uh, no one -- no one in particular threatened me or said anything.

Appellant's further statement in the Municipal Court underscored the voluntary basis of the guilty plea and Appellant's reasoning and risk calculation on possible penalties:

COURT: What if anything did you wanna say in addition to that?

DEFENDANT: Okay. Well, uh. Number – Well, number one, is this—this trial—this—this case has been [inaudible] some time. Two years and change, I think. Uh – or right around two years. So, I want everyone here to know that I have not been arguing just for the sake of arguing. Okay? I've – If you read the paperwork that I submitted to you, you'll see, I have religious issues that have forced my hand to continue to contest--the--the--not necessarily the speeding, as I mentioned earlier, but the other two charges fr—from a jurisdictional standpoint. [Pause] I had a problem with that. Still do. . . . Uh, so, I appreciate—you know, being given the opportunity not to bear the full brunt and wrath of [chuckle] whatever is going on here, but, uh, yeah, I still have those religious problems with that, and that—that—that is something that bothers me, although, I am entering this plea voluntarily, because I have calculated—I don't wanna go to jail. I'm likely to go to jail, and uh—yeah. I just—I just want that on the record. So--

(R. p. 60, lines 5-20).

Additionally, the partial transcript also undercuts Appellant's position on the trial court's alleged misstatement of a possible jail penalty for the speeding charge. The partial transcript of the municipal court proceedings clearly shows that the Appellant was aware of the negotiated penalty for all guilty plea charges, and the trial judge's acceptance of those penalties, before Appellant entered a guilty plea. The prosecutor recited a negotiated penalty of fine only of \$183.63 on the speeding charge and a fine only of \$155.00 on the no driver's license charge, and a nolle prosequi of the failure to register vehicle charge. After the description of the negotiated plea, the trial court stated, according to the partial transcript, "I'll tell you that I'm accepting it, and I'm also accepting the recommendation." The guilty plea followed. (R. p. 63, line 11 – p. 66, line 4). Appellant knew the penalties to be imposed before he voluntarily entered the guilty plea.

Appellant admitted to the circuit court, in line with the Return/Judges Notes of the trial judge (R. p. 13), that he had been advised, in previous court appearances in the case, of his rights to jury trial, bench trial, and an attorney. (R. p. 52, lines 17-21). In the appeal hearing before the circuit court, Appellant also admitted that he was guilty of the speeding charge. (“The speeding ticket though, I, I knew that—I mean I, I was speeding. I was guilty of that.”) (R. p. 31, lines 19-20). Similarly, in this Court, Appellant has admitted the substance of the offenses of no driver’s license and no vehicle registration. In Brief, Appellant (using the third person) admitted “Appellant does not use a driver’s license or vehicle registration . . .” (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 10).

In order for a defendant to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty, he must have a full understanding of the consequences of his plea. State v. Hazel, 275 S.C. 392, 394, 271 S.E.2d 602, 603 (1980). Here, the ruling of the circuit court is supported by the partial transcript of the plea and by Appellant’s own admissions. The transcript of the plea shows that Appellant was aware of the nature of the offenses and the penalties at issue, and contains Appellant’s own statements that the plea was voluntary and uncoerced and was the result of his weighing of the risk of trial with the plea result.

## **II. APPELLANT’S REMAINING ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL ARE WAIVED AND PRECLUDED BY HIS GUILTY PLEA.**

Appellant’s guilty plea to the charges of speeding and no driver’s license waived all of his arguments on appeal except the argument as to the knowing and voluntary nature of his plea. “Few principles of South Carolina criminal law are as ingrained as the notion that a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent guilty plea ‘constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and claims of violations of constitutional rights.’” State v. Sims, 423 S.C. 397, 400, 814 S.E.2d 632, 633 (Ct. App. 2018), citing State v. Rice, 401 S.C. 330, 331-32, 737 S.E.2d 485 (2013).

Appellant has asserted throughout the long history of his case and in this appeal that his claim under the South Carolina Religious Freedom Act (hereinafter, “the Act” or “SCRFA”) (S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-10 et seq.) is jurisdictional. However, Appellant cites no supporting South Carolina authority for that position, and the City is aware of none. Moreover, the text of SCRFA clearly and expressly provides that a violation of the Act may be asserted “as a claim or defense in a judicial proceeding.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-50.

Unlike the Protection of Persons and Property Act (S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-410 et seq.) discussed in State v. Sims, SCRFA contains no words providing immunity from criminal prosecution and, therefore, provides no basis for a jurisdictional argument. Rather, it appears from the language of the Act that SCRFA is not a conclusive defense to a criminal prosecution until the defense is established, first, by the claiming party’s proof of a “substantial burden” by the State on exercise of religion, and, second, by the State’s failure to demonstrate “compelling State interest” by the “least restrictive means.” S.C. Code Ann. § 1-32-40.

Under the State v. Sims analysis, a SCRFA claim is not a jurisdictional claim or other claim that would have prevented the State (through the City) from prosecuting Appellant in the first place. See also, State v. Green, 436 S.C. 492, 872 S.E.2d 869 (Ct. App. 2022) (a speedy trial claim is nonjurisdictional). Appellant’s guilty plea precluded the establishment and operation of his asserted SCRFA defense to the charges to which he entered a guilty plea.

Similarly, Appellant’s other arguments on appeal are waived and precluded by the guilty plea. Under South Carolina law, as explained in State v. Sims, this waiver includes constitutional claims. The City urges that this waiver and preclusion also applies to all claims arising prior to the plea, including Appellant’s claims and appeal grounds related to alleged “retaliatory prosecution,”

alleged lack of discovery or compliance by the City with discovery, and alleged estoppel by reason of the failure of other jurisdictions to prosecute Appellant for similar offenses.

Additionally, Appellant’s argument concerning the sufficiency of the trial court transcript fails to recognize the status of the Cayce Municipal Court as a “summary court.” See State v. Bellardino, 429 S.C. 563, 567, 841 S.E.2d 621, 623, fn 2 (2020), and its explanation of the difference between a “court of record” that must record all proceedings – word for word – for appellate review, and a “summary court” (magistrate or municipal court) that need only summarize what occurred for appellate review. See also, S.C. Code § 14-25-105 authorizing a return by the municipal court with a transcript of testimony “[w]hen the testimony has been taken by a reporter as provided herein . . .”

### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated and apparent from the record, the City urges that this Court affirm the judgment of the circuit court affirming the conviction in the municipal court.